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THE GUN THAT DIDN'T SMOKE 

Part One 
© 1994,1997 By Walter F. Graf and Richard R. Bartholomew 

"ISSUES WE HAVE NOT NOW ANTICIPATED" 

Privates sleep where the rain comes down 
Generals have their bed in town 

Hay foot, Straw foot never knows 
!fen the gun is loaded or nor 

So load her again and if she blows 
Dead and buried and soon forgot 

— Civil War ballad 

The Beginning 
Despite claims of prima facie evidence in the murder of 

John F. Kennedy, the basic issue remains, in any real sense, 
unresolved. Thirty years after the publication of the Warren 
Report, the debate over whether or not a conspiracy killed 
President Kennedy continues. Most people, in their day-to-
day affairs, whatever they may believe, act as if the case is 
closed. 

Journalist Robert Sam Anson once noted that "The lack 
of positive evidence of conspiracy surely hampers an investi-
gation of John Kennedy's death; it need not deter it. Oftentimes 
negative information is almost as important. Thus, each bit of 
conscious disinformation that was put out after the assassina-
tion should be followed to its source. All attempts to deflect 
the original investigators from the truth should be rigorously 
followed up." University of California, Berkeley. Professor 
Peter Dale Scott further noted that such deflections "...should 
be closely examined, for in this case damage control (as well 
as truth) is evidence: a clue to what relevant truths are being 
concealed.... Just as we believe the defendant who pleads guilty 
more readily than the one who pleads innocent, so we will 
pay more attention to the official record when it raises ques-
tions about its own reliability." In 1993, former Warren 
Commission Assistant Counsel Bun W. Griffin stated that re-
jecting the single bullet theory (a belief that one bullet caused 
seven wounds in two men despite its timing, flight path, points 
of entry and exit, and resulting condition) requires the assump-
tion that ballistics evidence went undiscovered or was 
suppressed. Griffin. now Judge Griffin, is correct. He also ad-
mitted that he and other Warren Commission staff members 
did not believe that the Dallas Police, the FBI, the Secret Ser-
vice, or the CIA. did a thorough job in investigating the crime) 

There are actually several conflicting single bullet theo-
ries,' a good reason, among many, to reject them. Rejecting 
them means there was more than one shooter. It also means 
there are problems with the ballistics evidence. This article 
endeavors to end assumptions about the suppression of that 
evidence. Notwithstanding the failure of the single bullet theo-
ries, and actually precluding them, we argue that the existence  

of a conspiracy is sufficiently proved by exposing two unreli-
able claims of the Warren Commission; by exhausting all 
conceivable innocent explanations for those claims; by argu-
ing that they were instead "damage control" attempts to deflect 
honest inquiry; and by calling into question long-accepted theo-
ries about the alleged murder weapon and its alleged 
misidentification. 

We demonstrate how the planting of specific evidence -
a pan of the weapon — was based on an error. The perpetra-
tors quickly realized the mistake, but not soon enough to 
correct it or hide it. All they could do was deflect attention 
from it. It was an error so obvious that it would have exposed. 
within hours of Lee Harvey Oswald's arrest, the conspiracy to 
frame him. In fact, the error has never been hidden, just con-
fused. We therefore show that damage control was the motive 
for the unanticipated, but criminally necessary and deliberate, 
prolonged misidentification of the weapon. 

Failing that proof, we further argue that there is only one 
other explanation for the weapon-related facts: traditional in-
terpretations that a second reported murder weapon was 
deliberately replaced with one that could be traced to Oswald. 
If either argument is correct — both establishing planted and 
suppressed ballistics evidence — we will have sufficiently 
proved conspiracy) 

From the beginning, there has been no reason to deny the 
conspiracy. Four of the seven Warren Commissioners — the 
majority — including the Commission's chairman, Chief Jus-
tice Earl Warren, expressed doubts about the Commission's 
conclusions within a decade of their report. They were joined 
by a fifth Commissioner in 1978, when John J. McCloy told 
the House Select Committee on Assassinations (HSCA) that 
"I no longer feel we had no credible evidence or reliable evi-
dence in regard to a conspiracy...." Lyndon Johnson never 
believed the report he commissioned. The official policy of 
the FBI is that the case is not closed, a policy begun by J. 
Edgar Hoover himself.' And those were the people who had 
supposedly found the truth. 

By any standard of historiography, the lone-assassin sce-
nario must be considered a minority opinion which is contrary 
to the known evidence. Yet that is not enough for a vocal mi-
nority of conspiracy deniers. Even the 115CA would go only 
as far as declaring a probable conspiracy. What is needed is 
simple evidence of conspiracy that is true, valid and sufficient 
at first impression. What is needed is a "smoking gun." 

In a letter that remained classified until January 1993, 
Walt W. Rostow, advisor to Presidents Kennedy and Johnson, 
voiced his fear of such evidence to Secretary of State Dean 
Rusk in the days just before the Warren Report was made pub-
lic. His main concerns were that "Overseas the report should 
do something to dilute the conspiracy theory of President 
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Kennedy's assassination," that "The report does, however, 

blow the fact that Oswald saw a named KGB agent at the So-

viet Embassy in Mexico City": that "the major task for 

ourselves and the USIA will be to prevent the discussion and 

debate in the U.S. from projecting an image of excessive do-

mestic disarray" and that because "As the debate unfolds, 

issues will arise — almost certainly some issues we have not 

now anticipated. ...We must be a united government in this 

matter,' 
That unity has never been less evident. During a 1992 

campaign appearance with Bill Clinton in McKeesport, Penn-

sylvania, now-Vice President Albert Gore said he believed that 

President Kennedy was killed by a conspiracy of unknown 

origin and that all federal files should be opened to the pub-

lic." President Clinton. when asked at a thirtieth anniversary 

press conference whether he thought Kennedy was killed by a 

single assassin and whether he was satisfied with his own se-

curity arrangements, replied: "I'm satisfied with the finding 

that Lee Harvey Oswald acted alone. I 

am also very satisfied with the work 
done by the Secret Service in my be-

half."' A good answer loaded with 

priorities perhaps, but this divided White 

House illustrates better than anything 

that, as a country, when it comes to the 

murder of our thirty-fifth president. be-

lieve what we might, we know no more 

now than we did in the waning weeks 

of 1963. 

The Search 

For more than thirty years, re-

searchers have sought the elusive 

"smoking gun" — a simple, indisput-

able fact that proves conspiracy in the murder of John F. 

Kennedy. It now appears that search may be over. This dis-

covery is not based on new evidence. As is often the case in 

quests for definitive answers, it was right under our noses the 

whole time. It has lain dormant in the Warren Report for three 

The Mannlicner-Carcano at the station - no protruding clip.  

decades as one of Rostow's feared "issues we have not now 

anticipated." Obscure and riddled with disinformation, yes, 

but not impossible to see. 

It is well-known that the rifle allegedly used as the mur-

der weapon was identified as a 6.5 millimeter caliber, 

Italian-made, bolt-action, military rifle called a Mannlicher-

Carcano, after its two inventors. It is largely unknown that 

during WWII, it was one of only two military-use rifles in the 

world that fed a cartridge into the chamber from a clip. The 

other was the M-I Garand. The difference between the two is 

that the clip on the M- l Garand ejects when the last round is 

fired, while on the Carcano the clip ejects when the last round 

is chambered. "In the clip system, the clip remains attached to 

the rounds on loading and forms an essential part of the maga-

zine system, a follower forcing the rounds out of the clip and 

presenting them in turn to the bolt for loading."' 

According to the Warren Report, when the weapon alleg-

edly used to kill the President was found on the sixth floor of 

the Texas School Book Depository 

(TSBD), one cartridge remained, and it 
was in the chamber." Therefore, if op-

erating properly, the rifle had 

automatically ejected the clip. The War-
ren Commission reported. however, that 

when the rifle was found, it contained a 

clip.' Firearms experts for the HSCA 

explained the discrepancy. On Septem-

ber 8, 1978, Monty C. Lutz of the 

Committee's firearms panel, was asked 
about this by Pennsylvania Represen-
tative Robert W. Edgar. 

Mr. Edgar. The cartridge clip was 

removed from CE-139 by Lieutenant 

Day of the Dallas Police Department on November 

22. 1963 at the crime laboratory for the police de-

partment. Shouldn't a clip automatically fall out once 

the last cartridge has fed into the chamber! 

Mr. Lutz. This rifle is designed to incorporate 

that feature so that the last cartridge is stripped out of 

the clip, then that allows the clip itself to fall or to 

drop lrom the opening that you see in the bottom of 

the box magazine. However. in many cases. and in 

this particular case. where we functioned the rifle. led 

cartridges through it, we found this clip to stay in the 

rifle after the last round had been stripped and fed 

into the chamber. Because the lips or the edges of the 

clip many times will open up. they will spring against 

the walls on the inside of the box magazine and it 

will hang up in that area [sic], and even though it is 

supposed to drop out, many times it will hang up in 

the box area." 

That explanation seems reasonable enough. But it is not. 

It is true that the clip must be deformed to have any chance 

of getting as stuck as this one. But once bent. it stays bent. 

Commission Exhibits (CEs1574 and 575 are photographs 

Anyone could 
have tested 

the clip 
by duplicating 

its required 
abnormal 
behavior, 

and can still. 
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of the alleged clip in its normal, unbent condition. And 
fiVe years after the HSCA reported the clip deformed. Life 
magazine photographer Michael O'Neill photographed it in 
normal condition for Life's  November 1983 issue.12. 

The Clip 
According to assassination researcher and author J.W. 
Hughes, who has tested this deformation over fifty times on 
each of his seven Mannlicher-Careanos, "When deformed, it 
will not hold the rounds because the locking ridge is spread 
too wide to hold the round and the weapon jams.'" The War-
ren Commission was apparently silent about whether ex-
pert riflemen from the U.S. Army and FBI had such diffi-
culty firing the alleged murder weapon in 1964, and whether 
it was fired with its alleged clip. Whether or not those marks-
men used the original clip, they were required to use any 
test clip in the original's apparent "found" condition, i.e., 
deformed. 

Anyone could have tested the clip by duplicating its re-
quired abnormal behavior, and can still. But CBS News, 
which claimed to "duplicate the conditions of the actual as-
sassination" in its filmed rifle test in 1967, did not. Accord-
ing to reporter Dan Rather, "Eleven volunteer marksmen 
took turns firing clips of three bullets each at the moving 
target." They fired a total of thirty-seven three-round series, 
seventeen of which resulted in unfired bullets due to "trouble 
with the rifle." Clip problems or not, all data from those sev-
enteen troubled series was disregarded by CBS analysts. It 
was the other series of shots, however, with properly emp-
tied and ejected clips, deemed worthy of analysis by CBS, 
that should have been disqualified. In the CBS film, clips 
can be seen flying out of the gun so fast as to be a blur." If a 
test clip is not bent, or ejects, or moves at all, Oswald's al-
leged feat is not duplicated, invalidating the test. The 
HSCA firearms panel seemed not to be interested in this 
phenomenon, since it did not test the clip under firing condi-
tions. Congressman Edgar learned about the defect from Mr. 
Lutz when he asked for details about their firing test: 

Mr. Lutz- This was a single cartridge being in-
serted into the chamber and firing into a cotton waste 
recovery box... backing away from the box, a foot or 
two, and pointing the muzzle into the box and then 
firing into it, in order to recover the projectile_ 

Mr. Edgar. But you weren't firing with clip -
using the clip, were you? 

Mr. Lutz. No sir; I did not. 
Mr. Edgar. Did anyone on the panel fire with the 

clip in? 
Mr. Lutz. t do not believe so; no. sir. 
Mr. Edgar. What was the reason for that? 

Mr. Lutz. There were no particular markings that 
we were able to identify as having come from the clip, 
nor were we checking for time firing or sequential 
firing in any way in that respect." 

Under the heading "Findings and Conclusions of the Fire-
arms Panel Concerning the Kennedy Assassination," we learn 
that, "Two bullets were test-fired into a horizontal water re- 
covery tank. Further tests were conducted by loading four 
cartridges into the CE 375 [sic I cartridge clip and inserting it 
into the magazine of the rifle. The cartridges were worked 
through the rifle's mechanism and ejected without being fired. 
When the last cartridge was chambered, the cartridge clip re- 
mained in the magazine instead of falling out as it is designed 
to do."'° Given Mr. Lutz's "the clip many times will open up" 
statement, this result demands further explanation. 

"Many times will" also means "many times won't." Metal 
expands when heated and can alter its shape. But during the 
HSCA tests of the loading mechanism, the rifle should have 
been cool. In addition, CE 541 (3), a photograph of the clip 
stuck in the magazine reproduced on page 83 of the Warren 
Report, shows it in a cool rifle. Surely the rifle had not been 
fired for some time before that photography session. Is Lutz 
suggesting that the clip's sides spring out when cool and then 
return to a normal shape in the heat of firing? If such a viola-
tion of the laws of physics occurs with this rifle and clip, how 
then could the rifle have "contained a clip" vThen found? 

Also, the HSCA's explanation does not explain what hap-
pened after the rifle was found. Over at least the next 
twenty-four hours, the Dallas Police Department reported, and 
left uncorrected, descriptions that remain a paradox to this day. 
Early news reports seemed to identify the murder weapon as 
anything but a 6.5 mm. Mannlicher-Carcano. NBC and WBAP 
radio identified it as a British Enfield .303. KLIF radio said it 
was a 7.65 German Mauser. KRLD radio announced that the 
rifle was "presumed to be a .25 caliber high powered Army or 
Japanese rifle." Radio station KBOX reported a German 
Mauser or a Japanese rifle. Dallas television station WFAA 
described it as three different kinds of Mauser: a "German 
Mauser," a 6.5 "Argentine Mauser" with a four-power scope. 
and a 7.65 "Mauser." Dallas NBC-affiliate television station 
WBAP's continuous coverage between 12:56 p.m. and 5:26 
p.m. Central Standard Time (C.S.T.) reveals that the "conflict-
ing reports" of the rifle's make evolved from the first (British 
.303) to the last (7.65 Mauser) in a very short time frame be-
tween 2:14 and 2:24." 

The Rifle 

Despite the fact that the alleged murder weapon that al-
legedly belonged to Oswald reportedly was clearly stamped 
"Made Italy" and "Cal. 6.5." local authorities and the media 
seemed to finally agree that it was a 7.65 German-made 
Mauser. Had as few as two different descriptions continued to 
dominate news reports the rest of the day, one of them being 
an Italian, or a clip-fed weapon, an argument could be made 
for confusion. But that is not what happened. The supposed 
murder weapon was not "called... most everything," as Cap-
tain Will Fritz testified." Initial descriptions quickly gave way 
to a short-lived consensus for a 7.65 German Mauser, not fur-
ther confuiion. Probably due to the earlier conflicting reports, 
reporters remained skeptical. But they asked if it was a Mauser, 
and were told, tacitly at least, that it was. As different as these 
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The partially disassembled rifle photographed as 
evidence - no clip shown 

early descriptions seemed from each other and from the 
weapon the Warren Commission finally chose, there is one 
difference they all have in common. It is the one difference 
from the Mannlicher-Carcano they all share. It is the key to 
the conspiracy. None of them can use an ammunition clip. 

The early critics of the Warren Commission who dealt 
directly with the rifle descriptions and clip problems, includ-
ing Mark Lane, Harold Weisburg and Sylvia Meagher, missed 
this particular paradox. Since the mid-seventies, most of the 
clip and rifle problems have been recognized by gun experts 
and many researchers, including Gary 
Shaw, Mary Ferrell, Jack White and 
George Michael Evica. But the fact that 
there is only one other clip system with 
which the Mannlicher-Carcano can be 
confused (the significance of which is 
explained below) and the absolute im-
possibility of confusing a 
Mannlicher-Carcano for any rifle but 
that one, seem to have been completely 
overlooked. 

In the case of Meagher. it was a 
near miss. She was aware of a lack of 
direct evidence that a clip was found at 
the crime scene. The Texas Department of Public Safety offi-
cial "Evidence Sheet" lists the incriminating evidence against 
Lee Harvey Oswald in detail. The number of spent shells found 
at the crime scene even changed from "(2)" to an obviously 

distorted "(3)" by the time the Warren Commission published 
the list, but no clip was ever accounted for.° 

The FBI Laboratory Report from J. Edgar Hoover to Po-
lice Chief Jesse Curry the day after the assassination itemizes 
and numbers everything from metal fragments to a belatedly 
identified rifle. But the clip is not listed or numbered. It is 
mentioned only in passing as part of a group of things without 
fingerprints.' 

Meagher even wrote, referring to testimony about confu-
sion over the clip, "It is another coincidence. one supposes, 
that someone has mistaken a six-shot clip for a clip suitable to 
a Mauser, just as the Carcano was taken for a Mauser.'''' 

This unfortunate statement may have ended further ques-
tions before they could be asked. Mausers are loaded from a 
"charger" (a.k.a. "stripper clip") which must be discarded af-
ter loading. While it is sometimes called a "clip," a charger 

has a completely different function.  
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Meagher fell for FBI weapons expert Robert Frazier's 
subtle testimony. The question asked of Frazier was, "Is there 
any reason that you can think of why someone might call that 
a five-shot clip?" Frazier answered. "No, sir, unless they were 
unfamiliar with it. There is an area of confusion in that a dif-
ferent type of rifle shooting larger ammunition, such as a 30.06 
or a German Mauser rifle, uses five-shot clips, and the five-

shot clip is the common style or size of clip, whereas this one 

actually holds six."' 
Frazier limited his answer to unfamiliarity with the clip 

itself. The full answer reveals the deception. The confusion is 
over the term, not the function. How could weapons expert 
Frazier not know this? Confusing a charger with a clip is only 
possible through complete and total ignorance of the way rifles 
are loaded. And that irrefutable fact leads, as the reader will 
see, to conclusive proof of conspiracy in the JFK assassina-
tion. 

Many questions about other rifles at the crime scene have 

been raised, and some of them answered conclusively, by JFK 
assassination researchers over the years.2` Oswald and his fel-

low employees had even seen a Mauser at the TSBD in the 
possession of their supervisor, Roy Truly, just two days be-
fore the assassination.' But had the critics known about the 

charger-clip discrepancy, they might 
have asked, along with questions about 
other rifles, slightly different questions: 
Why would a description of a superfi-
cially similar but non-clip-fed rifle 
prevail for at least twenty-four hours 
(and at most three days) after a clip-fed 
rifle became the most important piece 
of evidence? Was it because it pre-
vented questions from being asked 
about ammunition clips? Why avoid 
such questions? Was it because no clip 
was found with the gun? Did the crime 

scene investigators replace the clip? Why would the crime-
scene investigators lie and fabricate evidence to hide a rifle's 
normal firing condition? Did they confuse the Mannlicher-
Carcano's feeding system with that of the more familiar M-1 
Garand, thinking it needed a clip if a round was in the cham-
ber? Did they know, therefore, that the rifle was planted? And 

if they knew that, did they knowingly help frame Lee Harvey 

Oswald? 
Things might have been very different had Mark Lane 

known to ask these questions when he brought the Mauser 
description to the Commission's attention on March 4, 1964. 
This analysis does not exculpate Lee Harvey Oswald. Nor does 
it conclusively indict other individuals. But if this analysis is 
correct, it does conclusively prove conspiracy. And it serves 
to remind us that, in this time of new evidence produced 
through technology and file declassification, nothing is wrong 
with the old evidence. A hard question we must ask — and 
answer for our children — is why it took us so long. That 
delay caused great damage they will have to undo. 

In our search for a smoking gun, we missed the real prima 

facie evidence — the gun that didn't smoke. Let us begin again. 
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"NO MORE SHELLS IN THE MAGAZINE" 

An unlearned carpenter of my acquaintance once said in my 
hearing: "There is very little difference between one man and 
another: but what little there is, is very important." This dis-
tinction seems to me to go to the root of the matter 

— William James, 1897 

The Evidence 
As trial jurors are reminded daily, evidence tampering can 

be inferred from an absence of evidence which is reasonably 
expected to exist, and, conversely, from the existence of evi- 
dence which is reasonably expected to be absent. Inference is 
the essence of circumstantial evidence, one of three major clas- 
sifications of evidence. The other two major classifications 
are direct evidence and real evidence. The essence of direct 
evidence is that it directly establishes a main fact or element 
of the crime. It may be an actual object or an immediate expe-
rience on the part of a witness. Items of real evidence, the 
focus of our discussion here, are tangible objects which prove 
or disprove the facts at issue. Real evidence is self-explana-
tory. It may be either direct (e.g., an actual gun seen and 
collected) or circumstantial (e.g„ a gun not seen or collected 
but inferred from established facts such as its visual and audi-
tory effects). But real evidence needs only to be identified in 
court, not explained. Fingerprints and blood stains are other 
examples of real evidence. The most important real evidence 
is corpus delicti evidence. It consists of objects and substances 
which are an essential part of the body of a crime, such as a 
gun used to commit a murder. Investigators at a crime scene 
are therefore chiefly responsible for the discovery and preser-
vation of corpus delicti evidence. 

Those rules of evidence are among the most basic con-
cepts used in criminal investigation. Like the basic procedures 
described below, they were known and used around the world 
at the time of Kennedy's assassination. They were studied 
worldwide in textbooks. One of those books, by criminologist 
and educator Charles E. O'Hara, Fundamentals of Criminal 

Investigation, first published in 1956, was in its third printing 
with 14,000 copies by 1963. Prescribed fundamentals like those 
in textbooks like O'Hara's were known to Dallas Police Lieu-
tenant John Carl Day. On the day of the assassination, Day 
was fifty years old, had twenty-three years of experience with 
the Dallas Police Department, and had been the immediate 
supervisor of the crime-scene search section of its identifica-
tion bureau for seven years." 

In his "shoot-out town," as Dallas was called in 1963," 
Lieutenant Day knew all too well that investigators of the crime 
of murder have the greatest responsibility for competent in-
quiry. They face the most severe test of the full resources of 
the applied art of investigation. Among the most important of 
those investigative resources are science and prescribed meth-
odology. In a murder involving a gun. an  essential question is: 
"Is this the gun that fired the fatal bullet?" All the parts of the  

gun, including those required for its successful operation, as 
well as the condition of those parts, are therefore crucial pieces 
of corpus delicti evidence. Such evidence must be intelligently 
handled from the point of view of science and the law. Each 
person who handles that evidence must insure that it is ac-
counted for at all times while in their own possession. 

Fingerprints take priority during collection because they 
are the most fragile. But prior to submitting a gun to the crime 
laboratory, it should be unloaded and all parts that are remov- 
able without the aid of tools, and which may leave an imprint 
on the bullet or cartridge case, should be removed from the 
gun and properly marked or labeled for identification as they 
are being collected or as soon as possible thereafter. All of 
that information, plus any unique characteristics, such as cali- 
ber or gauge, make, lot number, and serial number, should be 
recorded in the investigator's notebook during or immediately 
after the search. 

Despite those long established, most important, most fun-
damental procedures used throughout the world in searches 
of the most important of all crime-scenes — those where mur-
ders occurred — on November 22nd, 1963, extremely 
unorthodox methods and extreme neglect by experienced in-
vestigators apparently prevailed during the search of the crime 
scene of the murder of the President of the United States. 

At 12:30 p.m. C.S.T., shots were fired at the President. 
Immediately, Dallas police apparently suspected some had 
originated from the TSBD. According to the Warren Report, 
the Dallas police had two witnesses who saw from where the 
shots came, Howard Brennan and Amos Euins. Brennan 
"quickly reported his observations to police officers." And ''Im-
mediately after the assassination," Euins "reported his 
observations to Sgt, D. V. Harkness of the Dallas Police De-
partment and also to James Underwood of station KRLD-TV 
of Dallas."" 

Shortly before 1:03 p.m.," Deputy Sheriff Luke Mooney 
reportedly discovered three used cartridge cases lying on the 
floor beneath the southeast corner window of the sixth floor. 
Harold Weisburg observed that, "More than a half-hour elapsed 
before the empty shells were found, yet they were 'found' at 
exactly the window pointed out. It was almost three-quarters 
of an hour before the rifle was 'found,' and it was found on 
that very floor."" 

Reportedly at 1:22 p.m., Deputy Sheriff Eugene Boone 
and Deputy Constable Seymour Weitzman discovered a bolt-
action rifle with a telescopic sight attached. The Warren 
Commission concluded that Weitzman — though neither man 
handled the rifle — described it as a 7.65 Mauser bolt action. 
It was subsequently described as a 6.5 millimeter Mannlicher-
Carcano Italian military rifle. It reportedly contained. one 
round, which was a copper-jacketed military-type bullet manu-
factured by Western Cartridge Co." 

The rifle was photographed and filmed almost from the 
moment it was found, but the earliest known evidence of an 
ammunition clip was not recorded until just before 1:57 p.m. 
It appeared in photographs taken by William G. Allen of the 
Dallas Times Herald,  Ira D. "Jack" Beers of the Dallas Morn- 
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A 1:57 AM Sun at 207° 55' 
Fort Worth Star Telegram 
George Smith photo 
(Trask. p. 340) 

12 inch square 
ornamental brick 

ing News, and Daniel Owens of Fort Worth television station 
WBAP." In his book, Pictures of the Pain, Richard 13. Trask 
described the scene: 

FIG. 1 : TEXAS SCHOOLBOOK DEPOSITORY 
(facing 165° South by Southeast) 
Shadows next to Loading Dock Gate on November 22, 1963 

Some time close to 1:45, Lieutenant Day left the 

Book Depository's front door carrying the rifle dis-
covered on the sixth floor. Photographers swarmed 

around Day as he walked to Houston Street and 
crossed the street over to its east side and proceeded 

a short distance easterly on Elm Street to his vehicle. 

Day held the weapon by its strap and away from his 

body, attempting to touch it as little as possible to 

preserve any potential evidence on the rifle itself. The 
significance of the scene and the clear view of the 
presumed assassination weapon was not lost on any 
of the photographers. Allen took eight exposures while 
Beers shot at least three. By early evening the wire 

services would be circulating photos of this dramatic 
scene. Several of these photos clearly show the end 

of an ammunition clip protruding from the bottom of 
the rifle. The brass clip held up to 6 rounds. When the 
final round was bolted into the rifle chamber. the clip 
was supposed to fall out from the bottom of its cham-
ber. The clip, however. had a propensity to catch and 
not fall out." 

We considered three aspects of these photographs: the pre-
cise time they were taken, the clip's "propensity" to align itself 
in the manner shown, and the photographic authenticity of the 
clip's image. 

Lt Day leaving the Depository with the rifle 
and a protruding clip? 

Precise timing of that event can be determined because 
the very next photographs, taken after Lieutenant .1. C. Day 
departed, by Allen, Beers, and a newly-arrived photographer, 
George Smith of the  Fort Worth Star-Telegram were of three 
apparent "tramps" being escorted past the TSBD by two uni- 

Scale: 0.5 inch = 4 inches 	NORTH 

Mortar Joints: 0.5 inch 

Fig. 1 — Illustration 0 1997 Richard Bartholomew 

formed policemen. The first of the seven known "tramp" pho-
tos, taken by Smith, shows shadows cast by the building's 
brickwork.' Shadows cast by sunlight can be read as a "sun-
dial" by comparing the bricks' measurements to the known 
positions of the sun for that date (see fig. I ). We can therefore 
be certain that the clip first appeared in evidence just prior to 
1:57 p.m. 

The Test 

Using a 6.5 Mannlicher-Carcano rifle (not a carbine) in 
excellent working condition, two black steel clips, and one 
live shell with a rounded, exposed-lead tip. as opposed to a 
full-metal jacket, coauthor Richard Bartholomew tested Trask's 
claim that the clip "had a propensity to catch and not fall out."" 

Inserting an empty clip manually from both the top and 
bottom resulted in the clip jamming against the clip release 
mechanism to its rear and against machined ridges on the sides 
of the magazine to its front. There were two distinctly differ-
ent jamming effects, depending on which end of the magazine 
placement was attempted. Neither jamming effect occurred 
when the shell was loaded into the chamber from the clip. 

First is the "bottom-placement" effect. When the clip was 
placed from the bottom, its posterior stayed aligned with the 
back of the magazine. This jamming effect could only be ac-
complished by manually protruding the clip partially from the 
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Two shells photographed 
as evidence.  

bottom and turning it clockwise. Turning it counterclock-
wise did not produce this effect. Instead, the clip always fell 
out. There was an audible clicking sound when the clip's right 
front side jammed into place behind the machined ridge. It 
was stuck firmly rather than loosely. This effect visually 
matched what is seen in the pictures of the alleged murder 
weapon being carried out of the TSBD. When the clip was 
placed farther into the magazine, from bottom to top, the sec-
ond jamming effect occurred. It was identical to the 
"top-placement" effect, produced by placing the clip into the 
magazine from the top (as described below). 

Second is the "top-placement" effect. When placed from 
the top, the clip always fell at an anterior-posterior angle, with 
the bottom angling forward and the top angling rearward. This 
fall resulted in the clip hanging on the front edge of the 
magazine's opening at the bottom. Then, when manually 
aligned properly, the clip slid easily through the ejection port, 
as it is designed to. Only by engaging the clip release button 
was it possible to remove the clip from the top. It was loose 
enough to rattle, but jostling would not release the clip. Dur-
ing some top-placement attempts, special manual alignment 
of the clip produced the "bottom-placement" jamming effect. 
The clip turned clockwise as a result of this physical handling. 
and holding the rifle at such an angle that the clip turned as it 
fell through the opening. 

It is clear that there is a propensity for a normal, empty 
clip to stay inside the magazine when manually placed from 
the top. The "bottom-placement" jamming effect, which al-
lowed partial ejection, was also reproducible when the clip 
was placed from the top, but it required physical manipula-
tion to accomplish. However, neither jamming effect occurred 
when the shell was loaded into the chamber from the clip. The 
normal action of the rifle kept the clip aligned with the 
magazine's bottom opening, allowing it to fall out as designed. 

From this experiment, experiences of others familiar 
with this weapon. and silence about clip-jamming frequency 
by official investigators who reportedly test-fired the al-
leged murder weapon with a clip, we concluded the clip 
must be deformed to jam regularly during rifle operation. 
A normal clip can be regularly jammed only through nom-
operational manipulation. The fact that no clip is seen 
protruding from the magazine in film taken on the sixth 
floor, combined with the fact that it is seen protruding from 
the magazine in film taken later at the front street entrance, 
means, at a minimum, that investigators handled the clip at 
the crime scene. 

Therefore, the following aspects and implications of 
this clip's lack of an operational "propensity to catch" are 
discussed in this article: the clip was officially reported to 
have no prints; handling by investigators was never re- 
ported. nor was Captain Fritz's filmed handling of the rifle 
with a handkerchief: since Oswald did not take precautions 
against leaving prints, he either did not load the rifle, or 
investigators wiped his and their own prints off the clip. 
Given the official silence, both alternatives indicate con-
spiracy. 

The Photos 
The remaining aspect of the Allen, Beers and Owens pho-

tographs, considered here, is the claim that no clip was visible 
to be photographed: the clip and its unusual placement are an 
illusion created entirely by photo-retouching. It is reasonable 
to consider such a forgery. It was both possible and probable 
with the then current state of photographic art. Photography 
in 1963-1964 had long been capable of altering history, and 
was known to have altered Russian history. The CIA's Ray 
Cline said, "Photography became to the fifties what code-
breaking was to the forties." Code-breaking determined the 
outcome of WWII. During the Eisenhower administration, both 
C.D. Jackson, the purchaser of the Zapruder film of the assas-
sination, and Edwin H. Land, the inventor of the Polaroid 
camera, worked closely with Director of Central Intelligence 
Allen Dulles on propaganda and U-2 photographic intelligence. 
While the Warren Commission was in session, Ranger 7 re-
turned 4,308 photographs from the moon electronically!' 

It could be argued, therefore, that the clip's image was 
faked because there was no evidence of a clip at the crime 
scene. But the plausibility of that claim ends there. Such a 
forgery has no other reasonable benefit to the conspirators. 
On the contrary, by the time the forgery could have been com-
pleted (one of the photographs was broadcast by NBC-TV 
News at 3:56 p.m. C.S.T.)," the use of extreme confidential-
ity regarding the clip had become obvious. 

In fact, the Allen, Beers and Owens photos are among the 
best proof of conspiracy. As will be seen, those photos forced 
the bizarre, deafening silence that continues to surround the 
clip. Those photos forced the conspirators into a hasty cover-
up of their worst mistake: thinking a clip was needed inside 
this rifle to satisfy its load-fire-reload characteristics. Without 
those photos, the conspirators could have said, "Nope, we 
didn't find any clip. It must have ejected normally and been 
ditched by the suspect." Had those photos never existed, we 
can be sure there would be no need for a clip in evidence, or 
any twenty-four-hour consensus about a Mouser. 

Fifteen years later, the Allen, Beers and Owens photos 
forced esteemed firearms experts to tell the HSCA a ridicu-
lous story about a clip so bent it could not move in any direction 
during the extensive handling of the rifle on the sixth floor. 
Those photos continue to force Lieutenant J.C. Day into ex-
treme, tortured avoidance of how, where, and in what condition 
the clip was found. The claim least reasonably believed about 

the photos is the normality 
Trask purports in the handling 
of evidence at the crime scene. 

Would not a clip so deformed 
(according to the HSCA) as to 
stick completely inside the 
rifle require extreme jarring to 
move it partially out of the 
rifle? Would the abnormality 
of a clip so deformed at least 
elicit some comment at the 
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scene from those who described every other "normal" part of 
the rifle's discovery in detail? 

The Questions 
The earliest known attempt to ask one of the crime-scene 

investigators for the exact location and condition of the clip 
when found, occurred on September 9, 1968. Dr. John K. 
Lattimer wrote and asked Day these questions: "Can you tell 
me where the empty cartridge clip was found? Was it on the 
floor under the window from which Oswald fired, or was it 
still in the rifle until Captain Fritz ejected the last round? I 
have not been able to find out this fact in the Warren Commis-
sion Report, and am appealing to you for clarification of this 
point." He gave, as a reference. Dr. Paul Peters, a member of 
the emergency medical team who tried to resuscitate JFK at 
Parkland Hospital. According to a handwritten notation, signed 
by Day and dated "9116," at the bottom of Lattimer's letter, 
the only action taken by Day, apparently, was contacting Pe-
ters' office and learning that "Dr. Lattimer was a reputable 
professor." The only response to Lattimer's letter seems to 
have been a form-letter response, two weeks later, from Chief 
of Police Charles Batchelor. refer-
ring him to the Justice Department." 

If the clip was so deformed as 
to stick completely inside the rifle, 
unnoticed for a half hour, then stick 
partially outside the rifle until it was 
allegedly removed at the police 
crime lab, would not Lieutenant Day 
have answered Dr. Lattimer's 1968 
letter that asked specifically how. 
where, and in what condition the 
clip was found? Would such a clip 
not elicit some comment at all, in 
three decades, from those who 
"found" it? In his 1980 book, 
Kennedy and Lincoln Lattimer 
vaguely reported questionable results from his own experi-
ments. He did not report his expected answers from either Day, 
or the Justice Department, or anyone else. Yet Lattimer de-
clared that "the Warren Commission had been correct" that 
"the clip was found in Oswald's rifle...."" As we will see. 
vague and inadequate as it is, Lattimer's "proof' is vastly su-
perior to the Warren Commission's. 

JFK assassination researchers are well aware that the state-
ments concerning the alleged murder weapon consist of a 
collection of information, misinformation and disinformation. 
In 1993, the task of citing it was greatly simplified when one 
author compiled most of it into a single volume, necessary in 
his attempt to portray the Warren Commission's unsupported 
minority opinions as the truth. 

Gerald Posner's Case Closed  includes only two direct ref-
erences to the Mannlicher-Carcano's ammunition clip. Posner 
says that the fact that Oswald used only four bullets in a six-
bullet clip is a sign of his lack of preparation." With regard to 
the three spent cartridges ejected from the rifle. he cites Lieu-
tenant Carl Day's Warren Commission testimony as proof that 

Day photographed the shells at the crime scene in their origi-
nal position. He cites the photographs taken by Day and his 
assistant Robert Lce Studebaker, and Deputy Sheriff Luke 
Mooney's testimony as proof that the shells were found in a 
random pattern rather than in a neat row." The claim that they 
were in a neat row was later made by Deputy Sheriff Roger 
Craig.42  

Posner also refers to the so-called misidentification of the 
rifle reportedly found at the TSBD and the fact that it was 
mistaken for a Mauser." The story that the Mannlicher-Carcano 
was planted at the Depository about twenty minutes after the 
assassination is "folklore," Posner claims." He informs us that 
Mooney and Weitzman (actually, it was Boone and Weitzman) 
thought at first glance that the rifle was a 7.65 bolt-action 
Mauser. He adds that, "Although they quickly admitted their 
mistake, that initial misidentification led to speculation that a 
different gun was found on the sixth floor and that Oswald's 
Carcano was later swapped for the murder weapon."" No one 
"quickly admitted" any mistake. If they had, no argument 
would exist over the misidentification. 

Posner ignores the earlier 
Enfield .303 identification alto-
gether. He dismisses the Mauser 
identification by saying, "Fire-
arms experts say they are easy to 
confuse without a proper exam 
(HSCA Vol. I, pp. 446-47; HSCA 
Vol. VII, p. 372.1" Posner gives 
no explanation for why, after a 
proper exam was made early that 
Friday afternoon by Lieutenant 
Day, the Mauser description con-
tinued uncorrected by the Dallas 
Police Department both internally 
to Police Chief Curry and public 
relations officer Captain Glen D. 

King, and externally to District Attorney Henry Wade and the 
press. He then ridicules Mark Lane for "trying to portray a 
simple mistake as evidence of conspiracy (Rush to Judgment, 
pp. 95-101)."" 

Posner, like many conspiracy deniers who continue to as-
sert ludicrously that Weitzman made an innocent error, is 
evidently unaware that his fellow denier, Commission staffer 
Wesley J. Liebeler, revealed a motive. Mark Lane spoke about 
Liebeler's June 5, 1967, remarks on Stanford radio station 
KZSU: "Said Liebeler, 'And, of course, Mr. Weitzman is Jew-
ish.' While the relevance of the officer's religion may not seem 
apparent at the outset, Liebeler's presentation of Weitzman's 
motive places it in context. Since 'the Germans have been 
picking' on the Jewish people 'for the last 50 years,' Weitzman 
reasoned, according to Liebeler, that he 'got one back at 
them.'"" 

An unfortunate oversight, perhaps. for someone like Mr. 
Posner who has studied Nazi Germany and desires to close 
the case based on minority opinions of the Warren Commis-
sion. Of course, given the facts, we would have to believe that 

But as we have 
already seen, 

these men did not 
test whether the 
clip in evidence 
would allow the 

weapon to 
function properly. 
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FIG. 2 : MANNLICHER CLIP SYSTEM 

Full clip is loaded 
from top down 
into magazine, 

which is exposed 
when bolt is open. 

TOP VIEW: 
Deformed clip 
will get stuck 
in magazine, 

causing the 
weapon to jam. 

Finger groove 

Clip stays in magazine 
until last round is 
chambered, then falls 
out unaided: the only 
other WWII military. 
use clip system. the 
M-1 Garand, ejects its 
clip when the last 
round is fired. 

Release 
button 
allows 

removal 
of clip 

from top 
only. 

V 
Normal empty 
clip slides 
easily out of 
port in bottom. 

the other crime scene investigators and the Dallas Police 
Department conspired to join Weitzman in his alleged attack 
on German anti-Semitism. 

On pages 474-75 of Case Closed,  there is a technical il-
lustration of the Carcano and the clip with a line drawn from 
the clip pointing to the area forward of the trigger, showing 
this position as its whereabouts when in use. 

There is also a four-panel diagram illustrating the bolt 
action. The caption above reads, "The bolt action can easily 
be executed in a fraction of a second." The caption below reads, 
"I. Push bolt up... 2. Pull back (to eject case and position next 
cartridge)... 3. Push forward... 4. Push down (to lock bolt)." 
Posner does not point out that while the bolt action can be 
operated quickly, such rapid firing is only possible with the 
clip. Among the Warren Report's few words about the clip is 
the statement: "As long as there is ammunition in the clip, one 
need only work the bolt and pull the trigger to fire the rifle."" 
Otherwise a cartridge must be loaded after each firing. 

Despite this semi-detailed look at the load-fire-reload 
cycle, Posner never mentions anywhere in his book the pecu-
liarities of this rifle's feeding system. He also does not mention 
that there should have been some mention of discovering the 
clip by Boone, Weitzman, Mooney, and especially Day and 
Captain Will Fritz, head of the Dallas Police Department Ho-
micide Division. The Warren Report cites Fritz's testimony" 
and Day's testimony" to support its statement that "When the 
rifle was found in the Texas School Book Depository Build-
ing it contained a clip...." 

Sylvia Meagher wrote: "...there is not one word on those 
pages about an ammunition clip, nor is there anything else-
where in the testimony of Fritz or Day or other witnesses which 
establishes that an ammunition clip was found at all. The as-
sertion in the Report that the rifle found in the Book Depository 
contained a clip is absolutely unsupported by direct evidence 
or testimony."" 

Meagher is right. The pages cited by the Report as proof 
that the clip was found with the rifle say nothing about the 
clip. Fritz talks about Day. Day talks about Fritz. They both 
talk about the rifle: about finding it; photographing it; han-
dling it; ejecting the live round; putting identifying marks on 
it and the live round: dusting them both for prints; and about 
how, when and where all of these activities were done. But 
nothing in this testimony indicates the existence of a clip 
at the crime scene. 

Posner quotes the following from a January 19, 1992, in-
terview, he had with Carl Day: "I knew there could be no 
fingerprints on that strap, so I picked the gun up by that. The 
stock was pretty porous and weather-worn, so there was little 
chance of any prints there. Before pulling the bolt back, I sat- 
isfied myself there were no prints on the little metal lever. 
Then I held the gun while Captain Fritz pulled the bolt, and a 
live round fell out. There were no more shells in the maga- 
zine." From this statement we might be tempted to think that 
we now apparently have, twenty-nine years late, the first and 
only (and improbable) record of the clip ("magazine") being 

Fig. 2— Illustration © 1994 Richard Bartholomew 

seen at the time of the discovery of the rifle. But returning to 
Lutz's testimony before the HSCA, aided by fellow firearms 
expert Donald E. Champagne, we learn otherwise: 

Mr. Edgar. ...I was interested in seeing you 
handle the rifle and talking about the action of the 
rifle. I have just a couple of questions relating to the 
rifle itself. 

Could you describe the magazine section of the 
rifle and how that works? 

Mr. Lutz. The magazine section is this attached 
area, a fixed box-type magazine, that is part of the 
trigger guard protruding from the bottom of the stock. 
It is the large metal object that you see on the lower 
silhouette. The magazine itself consists of the fol-
lower, the steel or metal arm that is inside of the 
receiver, that is pushed down as the cartridges are in-
serted into the top of the firearm, and then that steel 
or metal arm is on a spring that pushes on the bottom 
cartridge and is part of the magazine and causes the 
feeding of the system to operate inside of the rifle as 
It is loaded. 

Mr. Edgar. So it would be accurate to say that 
there isn't a portable magazine that is clipped into the 
rifle and clipped out again, that the magazine is part 
of the rifle itself. 

Mr. Lutz. That is correct as opposed to the de-
tachable magazine that could be removed and taken 
out of the rifle.... 

Mr. Edgar. Do the magazine follower markings 
fotind in CE- I41 f the live round ejected by Fritz, in-
dicate that the clip was used? 
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Mr. Lutz. Could I defer that question to Mr. 
Champagne? 

Mr. Edgar. Sure. 
Mr. Champagne. Yes. Without the clip the 

weapon would not function properly. The cartridges 
would lie loose in the magazine." 

The rifle is found. No clip is seen protruding, but later 
seen seemingly being stuck in the magazine. 

The Facts 
But as we have already seen, these men did not test 

whether the clip in evidence (as seen in CE 575) would allow 
the weapon to function properly. In the condition shown on 
page 83 of the Warren Report, given their reason for why the 
clip was there, it would not (see fig. 2). 

The main point here is that in Posner's book, the terms 
"clip" and "magazine" are used interchangeably, when, in fact, 
they refer to two different things. Day was not talking about 
a clip. The clip holds the cartridges. The magazine is an inte-
gral part of the rifle which, in this instance, holds both the 
cartridges and the clip. The clip goes into the magazine. 

On Mausers, the Lee Enfield or Springfield 1903, the 
magazine would hold the cartridges without the clip (a.k.a. 
charger or stripper clip) which is thrown away when the car-
tridges are "thumbed" into the magazine. The term "clip" is 
used in this latter case commonly, but the correct term is 
"charger" or "stripper clip." 

The point is that a Mannlicher-Carcano will not function, 
except impossibly slowly, without a clip, and a Mauser will 
not function properly with one. According to J.W. Hughes, 
"One thing that you should be aware of is that the Mannlicher-
Carcano was not designed to 'single load'. If you attempt to 
single load the Mannlicher-Carcano, the bolt will push the 
round into the chamber, but will need to beforced closed. This  

will in most cases not properly seat the bolt behind the round 
and the firing pin most generally will not strike the primer 
with sufficient force to discharge the round. Then, in most 
cases, it will deform the rear of the shell as the extractor is 
forced around the extractor ring as the bolt is opened. I tested 
my Mannlicher-Carcanos again with this type of loading and 
1 out of 63 rounds fired.' (emphasis in original) Congress-
man Edgar did not ask the HSCA firearms panel, and its 
members did not volunteer, whether they had this difficulty 
during their firing tests conducted entirely without the clip. 

Furthermore, with the Mannlicher-Careano, we arc talk-
ing about a rifle that feeds from the top. A clip feeds from the 
top (see fig. 2). A detachable magazine feeds from the bottom. 
The magazine is temporarily attached to the bottom of the rifle 
and houses the cartridges. During WWII, both Mausers and 
Enfields were equipped with ten-round detachable magazines. 
These magazines were attached to the bottom, which could 
not have been involved in the misidentification of the 
Mannlicher-Carcano. 

Therefore, Carl Day was still cleverly avoiding the prob-
lem of the clip after twenty-nine years. When he told Gerald 
Posner, "There were no more shells in the magazine," he was 
correct He was not only correct, but he provided himself an 
avenue of escape from the glaring subject of the clip. At the 
moment they determined there were no more rounds in the 
magazine, Day and Fritz could not avoid seeing the empty 
clip which was supposedly stuck inside the magazine?  

Mr. Posner was also purposely avoiding the issue. Even 
if Posner and Day simply misspoke, it is still unbelievable 
that several witnesses to this clip-magazine, including such 
firearms users as Boone, Weitzman, Mooney, and Fritz, have 
never said a word in thirty years about finding such an essen-
tial part of the weapon. And if Posner and Day misspoke, it is 
still unbelievable that a description of a non-clip-fed rifle pre-
vailed inside and outside the Dallas Police Department during 
that Friday afternoon, evening and night. Historian and au-
thor George Michael Evica makes a very good point about 
this: 

Lieutenant Day was credited by the Warren Com-
mission with identifying the rifle in his possession as 
an Italian 6.5 mm. weapon. The Commission. how-
ever, supplied neither evidence nor documentation for 
its statement. Those references it did give to 'docu-
ment' the alleged Day identification were irrelevant 
to the Commission's assertion. And Day himself 
seemed to deny the Commission's statement: 'I didn't 
describe the rifle to anyone other than [unidentified] 
police officers.' One of those 'police officers' seems 
to have been public relations officer Captain Glen D. 
King, but if Day did describe the weapon he exam-
ined to King, and King (doing his job) passed that 
description on to the working press the afternoon and 
evening of the 22nd, either Day described the rifle as 

a 7.65 Mauser, or King thought Day described it as 
such, since that description prevailed." 
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Day, in describing a Friday night encounter with the press. 
testified under oath that. "Several of the newsmen asked me 
various questions about what the gun was at that time. I did 
not give them an answer. 

"When I went back to the office after Marina Oswald 
viewed the gun, they still were hounding me for it. I told them 
to check with the chief's office, he would have to give them 
the information, and as soon as I got back to my office I gave 
a complete description, and so forth, to Captain King on the 
gun."" 

Day, and King in turn, should have been following the 
official Dallas Police Department policy on news coverage. 
The Warren Report states: 

Consistent with its policy of allowing news rep-
resentatives to remain within the working quarters of 
the Police and Courts Building, the police department 
made every effort to keep the press fully informed 
about the progress of the investigation. As a result, 
from Friday afternoon until after the killing of Os-
wald on Sunday, the press was able to publicize 
virtually all of the information about the case which 
had been gathered until that time. In the process, a 
great deal of misinformation [and as later discovered, 

disinfor-mation] was disseminated to a worldwide au-

dience. 
As administrative assistant to Chief Curry. Cap-

tain King also handled departmental press relations 
and issued press releases. According to King, it was 
"the responsibility of each member of the department 
to furnish to the press information on incidents in 
which they. themselves, were involved, except on 
matters which involved... personnel policies of the 
department, or... unless it would obviously interfere 

with an investigation under way...." 

...In their efforts to keep the public abreast of 

the investigation, the police reported hearsay items 
and unverified leads; further investigation proved 
many of these to be incorrect or inaccurate. For ex-
ample, the rifle found on the sixth floor of the Texas 
School Book Depository Building was initially iden-
tified as a Mauser 7.65 rather than a 
Mannlicher-Carcano 6.5 because a deputy constable 
who was one of the first to see it thought it looked 
like a Mauser. He neither handled the weapon nor saw 

it at close range.' 

Considering the number and quality of worldwide jour-
nalistic organizations represented, is it possible that not one 
followed Day's instruction to "check with the chief's office" 
(i.e., King) on the second most sought-after piece of informa-
tion? For all of these professional journalists to get the name 
and type of murder weapon wrong is no less unbelievable than 
if they had gotten the name and description of the primary 
suspect wrong for twenty-four hours after he was in custody. 

Warren Commissioner John J. McCloy asked Day: "There 
was never any doubt in your mind what the rifle was from the 
minute you saw it?" Day replied, "No, sir; It was stamped 
right on there, 6.5, and when en route to the office with Mr. 
Odum, the FBI agent who drove me in, he radioed it in, he 
radioed in what it was to the FBI over the air."' The HSCA 
added that "Later that day, the rifle's six-round cartridge clip 
was removed by Lieutenant Day in the Dallas Police Crime 
Laboratory."' 

Evica further points out that Day waited until he got to 
his office to dictate a detailed description of the rifle, which 
remained in his possession from the moment it was found. 
That description and four others are missing from the 
Commission's public record: I) Weitzman's FBI description, 
2) Day's dictated memo, 3) Day's description to FBI Special 
Agent Bardwell D. Odum, 4) Odum's broadcast, and 5) Dal-
las police Detective C.N. Dhority's description.°  Five 
descriptions that would have prevented the "folklore" of a 
planted rifle were not made public. 

"CONFUSION OVER THE RIFLE" 

As out of place as a Presbyterian in Hell. 
— Mark Twain, 1912 

The Situation 

In the main body of the Warren Report, the rifle, cartridges, 
cartridge cases, bullets, etc., are described under the heading, 
"Expert Examination," but there is not a word about the clip 
on the Mannlicher-Carcano despite that it would be of par-
ticular interest, since the Carcano and M-I Garand were the 
only clip-fed (directly chambered from a clip) WWII mili-
tary-use rifles in the world. 

Turning to the Warren Report's Appendix X, we have cov-
erage of the description and operation of the Carcano and 
everything associated with it in the minutest detail, but on the 
ejection of the clip, silence. This is the key to the operation of 
this weapon, because it tells the user when to reload. It is im-
portant enough to repeat that, on the M-1 Garand, the clip is 
ejected when the last round is fired, while on the Mannlicher 
system, the clip is ejected when the last round is chambered. 

That was the state of the weapon left at the TSBD. Yet it 
is not until the Warren Report's Appendix X that, at long last, 
the silence is broken on the location of the clip. We read that 
when the rifle was found in the TSBD, it contained a clip. 
That was the only place in the world where the clip could not 
be found. It would have fallen out the bottom when the last 
round was chambered. The word "contained" precludes the 
slight possibility that the clip was stuck in the magazine. 

Events at the crime scene seem to be predicated on 1) 
somehow.  a clip was involved, but 2) somehow these events 
were based on the misconception that the clip, as in the M-1 
Garand, was ejected when the last round was fired, not cham-
bered. See the Warren Report's Appendix X. 
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This latter misconception could have been the reason why 

Jack Ruby referred to "the confusion over the rifle." For at 

least twenty-four hours the public was informed the weapon 

was a Mauser, while it was known internally at •the Dallas 

Police Department to be a Mannlicher-Carcano. The delay 

could have been to allow time to locate a clip, and synchro-

nize stories, when actually it was unnecessary. The clip would 

have been ejected, and the shooter could have easily pocketed 

it to avoid identification of fingerprints. 

The most plausible explanation is that the only confusion 

was over when the clip ejected during the load-fire-reload 

cycle. Trained soldiers throughout the world have filled hun-

dreds of thousands of graves because of failure to understand 

this cycle on various weapons. So it is understood that people 

are slow to understand the cycle of this feeding system.' It 

seems too ironic, when considering these events, that the 

Carcano is one of only two clip-fed WWII military-use rifles 

in the world, and that the misconception was based on the 

timing of the ejection of this only other clip-fed system, the 

M- I Garand. 
The facts surrounding these events cry out for explana-

tion because of repeated indications 

that during the first twenty-four hours 

the Depository rifle was known in-

ternally to be a Mannlicher-Carcano 

by the Dallas Police Department. 

And the cry becomes deafening when 

we add the fact that three days after 

the assassination, a CIA report iden-

tified the gun as a Mauser. Dated 

November 25, 1963, it reads: 

The rifle he (Oswald) 

used was a Mauser which OS-

WALD had ordered (this is 

now known by handwriting 

examination) from Klein's 

Mail Order House, Chicago, Illinois. He had the rifle 

sent to a Post Office Box which Lee OSWALD had 

rented. In the order for the rifle, Oswald used the name 

Alex HIDELL. 

OSWALD also had in his possession at the time 

of his arrest (after he also killed a Texas policeman) a 

U.S. Selective Service Card in the name of Alex 

HIDELL."' 

This seemingly authoritative report was apparently writ-

ten by an analyst who had not seen the Klein's mail order 

form he is writing about, since it is an order form for a 

Mannlicher-Carcano. not a Mauser. The CIA declined to com-

ment on the report. And a CIA-translated, Italian military 

report, dated six days after the assassination reads, "The 

weapon which appears to have been employed in this crimi-

nal attack is a Model 91 rifle, 7.35 caliber, 1938 modification... 

The description of a [6.5 caliber] 'Mannlicher-Carcano' rifle 

in the Italian and foreign press is in error."' And then after 

weeks to think it over, Wade asked the Commission if a Mauser  

was German. This is an official who had prosecuted scores of 

gun shot cases.° The cry for answers is still deafening. The 

silence is still equally deafening. 

During his testimony, Dallas District Attorney Henry Wade 

mentioned something about a "situation" and of course no one 

was interested in what "situation." He implied the situation 

was the cause of unnatural statements and events at his post-

midnight press conference. 

Mr. Rankin. What did you say about it? 

Mr. Wade. I think I said I thought it was a Mauser 

or I thought — was one of those things I didn't know 

what it was. It was an Italian gun, I think and I really 

thought I was giving them Italian but Mauser is a Ger-

man gun, isn't it? But I think you have that — it was 

a situation, I don't contend I was right on that be-

cause it was a situation somebody asked me that and 

that is what I thought I was telling them and I never 

— all my information came from the police and actu-

ally somebody said originally it was a Mauser but it 

turned out it was not.." 

All Wade had to say was, "I 

called it a Mauser. I was wrong." In-

stead, he seems to refer to "a 

situation" in the sense that it was a 

critical, trying, or unusual state of af-
fairs — a problem. He even passes 

the buck to the police. What was the 

problem? This "situation" was most 

likely the failure to understand the 

load-fire-reload cycle when the evi-

dential line was being set up. There 

is nothing inherently sinister about an 

evidential line, a starting point has to 

be established to keep things under 

control. Why is he so defensive? Even 

if he was wrong, it should not have been a problem. 

Forget where the rifle came from, forget whether Oswald 

ever had the rifle, rate of fire or accuracy or whether the rifle 

was fired that day (there appears to be no evidence it was 

checked for recent firing). Foreet everything about the rifle 

except two things: I) the Carcano was the evidence on the 

scene and 2) its load-fire-reload cycle in relation to the state 

in which the rifle was found was that the last round was cham-

bered. 
The first factor was understood on the afternoon of No-

vember 22nd. The second factor was misunderstood and may 

have resulted in what Ruby referred to as the "confusion over 

the rifle." This confusion governed that afternoon, evening, 

night and the next day. It resulted in the Warren Commission 

drawing a conclusion that is completely impossible. It resulted 

in Henry Wade being forced to make ridiculous statements." 

Since there is no physical or photographic (and, as dis-

cussed below, truthful anecdotal) evidence of a Mauser or 

a clip at the sixth floor crime scene, the Mannlicher-

Carcano was the only weapon in evidence on the sixth floor 

If the clip was 
actually there, it 
is highly unusual 

(and therefore 
suspicious) for 
Day not to have 

dusted it or men- 
tioned dusting it. 
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of the TSBD at 1:22 p.m., November 22nd, 1963. The 
evidential line therefore had to be set up. Through failure to 
understand the second factor above, it was mistakenly thought 
a clip had to be found. A clip was obtained. A period of uncer-
tainty followed. The public had to be informed it was a Mauser 
(the Carcano's non-clip-fed superficial-twin). As a result, no 
one asked, "Where's the clip?" When the conspirators real-
ized they must remain committed to the clip (because Day 
had been photographed leaving the TSBD with the rifle and 
the clip is shown sticking noticeably out of the bottom of the 
trigger guard), the cover story was explained away as 
Weitzman's imagination having only "glimpsed" the murder 
weapon of the century. This, in all likelihood, is the "situa-
tion" Wade was talking about. Neither this nor anything else, 
however, suggests that Wade had knowledge of what was tran-
spiring. It suggests only that he was being given a "bum steer.' 

Why the misunderstanding? The familiar M-1 Garand, 
the other WWII, military-use, clip-fed rifle, during its load-
fire-reload cycle, ejects the clip with a clatter when the last 
round is fired — not chambered. And that, of course, is the 
signal to reload. Being so familiar to everyone, it was not re-
alized the same did not apply to the Mannlicher feeding system. 

This "misunderstanding" ruled the afternoon of Novem-
ber 22nd, through the next day, and when the Warren Report 
was issued. This "misunderstanding" was the "confusion over 
the rifle" Ruby talked about, the "situation" Henry Wade talked 
about.7°  

And because the weapon was apparently never tested for 
recent firing, a probably unfired rifle was planted supposedly 
in a state to suggest an actual fire. For rifle experts, the first 
thing they focus on in picking up the Mannlicher-Carcano is 
the unusual clip ejection system and the characteristic of the 
clip getting stuck on occasion. The silence on this subject was 
deafening at Dallas. and this silence continued through most 
of the Warren Report. Finally, in the Report's Appendix X, it 
was dismissed in a terse, tortured manner, dismissed with a 
sentence that sounds like a thunder clap: "When the rifle was 
found at the ITSBD] it contained a clip." "Contained" does 
not mean "stuck in the bottom." Had that been what was ob-
served, it would have been among the very first observations 
made at the crime scene. 

John K. Lattimer, author of Kennedy and Lincoln, and 
the man who, in 1968, asked but reported no answer from 
Day about where the clip was found. dealt with this problem 
in his own twisted way. He explained his initial concern: "I 
had thought I had discovered a discrepancy in the Warren Com-
mission report when I read that Oswald's clip was retained...." 
He reported that in experiments with his four Carcanos, the 
clip stuck on two. Instead of using the Commission's "rifle 
contained a clip," he used the phrases "rifles would retain the 
clip" and "that all these old Carcano rifles would eject the clip 
when it was empty... was not always so," both quite different 
from "contained?' While poetic in rhyme and synonymy, and 
white adequately describing the partial ejection seen rarely 
with Carcanos, "retain"— to hold back — does not describe  

the invisible containment of a clip necessitated by the film 
and testimony documenting what was actually seen and alleg-
edly done with the Carcano in question. 

But in debating details about what was or was not reported 
and what the rifle will or will not do, we could find it easy to 
lose sight of the basic problem. Either way, it is devastating to 
the Warren Commission's minority opinion: to those who ini-
tially conducted this investigation; and to conspiracy deniers 
in general. 

The Function 
If the clip was on the sixth floor for everyone to see, the 

tool mark notwithstanding, how could these men mistake a 
clip-fed rifle for a non-clip-fed Mauser? If the clip was there. 
the long-lived Mauser identification does not make sense: 
unless it was a deliberate lie. And since there was no reason 
to lie about a Mannlicher-Carcano with a clip, it either was a 
Mauser, quickly replaced by a Mannlicher-Carcano, or there 
was no clip. Those are two very good reasons to lie; but in the 
latter case, only if you think a clip is needed. And until there is 
evidence of a Mauser or a clip on the sixth floor, the latter 
explanation must predominate. 

Therefore, if there was no clip on the sixth floor. why did 
the authorities say there was? If the clip was not there — a 
perfectly normal situation — the fact that they said it was does 
not make sense; unless they knew the rifle was planted, in-
serted a clip which they erroneously thought it needed, and 
lied to cover it up. Either way, Oswald was framed. If not for 
the serious implications, it would be laughable, because they 
did not need the clip. 

As the Warren Report says, "The rifle probably was sold 
without a clip; however, the clip is commonly available." Given 
the known chain of custody of the clip, that statement incrimi-
nates Lieutenant Day as much as it does anybody. There is no 
evidence of clip ownership by Lee Harvey Oswald or even by 
his alleged paper alter ego. Alek James Hidell. In the conflict-
ing evidence of mail-order paperwork used to purchase the 
alleged murder weapon, one fact is clear: no clip was ordered 
or purchased. The clip was offered free with the purchase of 
108 rounds of ammunition which cost $7.50. The carbine with 
scope was $19.95, plus $1.50 for postage and handling. The 
money order was in the amount of $21.45. The order form 
sent to Klein's Sporting Goods was for only item C20-T750 
("Carbine with brand new good quality 4X scope"). The 
Klein's shipping order itemized only "I ITALIAN CARBINE 
6.5 W/4X SCOPE...19.95...PP-1.50." No ammunition was 
ordered or purchased, and no clip was ordered or purchased 

After showing the clip inside the rifle in a photograph 
(CE 541) on page 83, the Warren Report first mentions it on 
page 555 at the end of the section called "The Rifle." Here the 
reader learns that "As long as there is ammunition in the clip, 
one need only work the bolt and pull the trigger to fire the 
rifle." The next, and last, paragraph of this section is entirely 
about the clip. While this section tells how it is inserted into 
the rifle, no mention is made of the unique way it is ejected. 
Of course, if they did that they would have to open a can of 
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threatening worms and explain why the rifle "contained a clip." 
FBI weapons expert Robert Frazier did testify about the ejec-
tion mechanism but said nothing about the clip remaining stuck 
in the weapon." 

The clip is not mentioned again. Even on pages 565-566, 
it is not mentioned as one of the "Objects in the Texas School 
Book Depository Building" dusted for prints. This section 
comes close when discussing "faint ridge formations" on the 
metal magazine housing in front of the trigger. (According to 
the recent PBS Frontline television broadcast, an identifiable 
fingerprint of Oswald's.) It comes close again when saying 
"No prints were developed on the cartridge found in the rifle 
or on the three expended cartridge cases." This statement's 
sources" are FBI fingerprint expert Sebastian Latona," Li 
Carl Day,'6  and CE 2011, pp. I , 5. 

Latona testified that he dusted all parts of the weapon, 
and he specifically said he found no prints on the ammunition 
clip. His findings were even given in an FBI report." Since 
the Warren Report states that "There is no evidence that Os-
wald wore gloves or that he 
wiped prints off the rifle," it 
appears that the FBI would have 
been forced to explain the ab-
sence of prints on the clip had 
they mentioned Latona's find-
ings. 

If the clip was actually 
there, it is highly unusual (and 
therefore suspicious) for Day 
not to have dusted it or men-
tioned dusting it on the sixth 
floor. Unlike the cartridges, it 
had to be handled when it was 
inserted into the magazine. The 
absence of prints on the car-
tridges means that any prints 
made in the act of loading would most likely be found on the 
clip. To say there were no prints on the clip but several on the 
rifle is to say that Oswald was careful not to handle the clip 
with bare hands yet after loading, handled the rifle with bare 
hands. Not likely. It is more likely that no clip was found. 

Austin. Texas, gunsmith Jim Westbrook. formerly of the 
Austin Police Department. was asked if the clip could be in 
the weapon during its disassembled state, thus avoiding fin-
gerprints upon assembly. He said the clip might be loaded 
disassembled, but not safely. While he would not say it could 
not be done, he pointed out that handling the rifle would en-
danger the user and others. He said one could even argue that 
Oswald left the gun loaded after the Walker shooting, but while 
loaded, the weapon could not be disassembled and reassembled 
safely. J.W. Hughes. however, is certain that it cannot be done 
at all. He said a loaded clip will not stay in the ammunition 
"well" when the trigger guard is removed from the rifle. 

Westbrook brought up another point concerning claims 
of Oswald assembling the rifle after he reached the TSBD. He 
said the rifle would need significant adjustment to align all of 
the parts for accurate shooting, including the seating of the  

action and the tension of the screws, requiring a torque wrench. 
Without such adjusting, even the iron sights could be mis-
aligned. Even if it were possible, taking this kind of care during 
assembly would not jibe with the extremely unsafe practice of 
doing it while the gun was loaded.' 

It has also been argued that the rifle was found with a clip 
still "attached" inside of which was that "last" round. Some-
one then operated the bolt so that the "last" round was 
chambered, followed by the clip falling out. And, afterward, 
it is possible that, in order to reestablish the original condition 
of the rifle found, the finder(s) replaced the round in the clip, 
or misplaced it in the chamber, and replaced the clip in the 
rifle. 

Researcher Anthony Marsh has given this theory some 
thought: "The clip does not eject after the last round fired if 
there is still a live round in the magazine... a live round in the 
magazine, not chamber... if the last round was still in the maga-
zine, then the clip would not have ejected. After someone 
ejected the last round to dust it, then the clip could have started 

falling out. The fact that it is [ap-
parently] only partially ejected 
when the rifle is being carried 
out of the TSBD supports the 
idea that the clip did not fully 
eject as happens on most M-
Cs."' 

The clip would have 
"started falling out" after the last 
round was chambered, not 
ejected. And the idea that a clip 
does not fully eject on most 
Carcanos is mistaken. A normal 
empty clip rarely catches during 
operational ejection on most 
Carcanos. As discussed above, 
a clip-jamming effect can be 

regularly produced with most Carcanos only when an empty 
clip is inserted and manipulated into the relevant jammed po-
sition. Moreover, given the ejection of a last round as described 
by Fritz and Day, the presence of a "last" round in the clip and 
not in the chamber sounds impossible. Officially, Oswald had 
ejected three cartridge cases. Pulling the bolt back ejects the 
case in the chamber, and positions the next cartridge, When 
Oswald allegedly ejected the third cartridge, the fourth and 
last one remaining in the clip would have become chambered. 
ejecting the clip. The '03 Springfield has a cut off that enables 
one to work the bolt on an empty chamber and still retain 
rounds in the magazine. But even if the alleged JFK murder 
weapon has such an unreported feature, it is hard to imagine 
using the cut off while shooting at someone.' Another, more 
plausible, version of this un-chambered round theory will be 
discussed in part two of this article. Such arguments can dis-
tract from the primary issue, however. 

If the clip was found "contained" in the rifle, the argu-
ment over whether it took a blow torch to remove it or it ejected 
at launch velocity is irrelevant to the issue of conspiracy. Such 
arguments are diversions. Resolving them will not acquit the 

The "confuser," 
whose duty was 
to confuse the 

people, got con- 
fused himself 

over the 
Mannlicher 

feeding system. 

The Assassination Chronicles Spring 1997 	 33 



• guilty parties. Their resolution will only help reveal which 
crime: Mauser switch; or clip replacement and Mauser lie. 
They claimed to have both. 

The Conclusions 
By considering suppositions covering both options (clip 

and no clip), the truth begins to emerge: the authorities fabri-
cated an explanation that conflicts with opposing conclusions 
(i.e.. clip equals Mauser or Mauser fabrication, and no clip 
equals both clip fabrication and Mauser fabrication). Did they 
have a clip or did they have a Mauser? They cannot inno-
cently have both, neither, or either, coexisting with their claims 
about the clip and the longevity of the Mauser identification. 
All options for innocence are exhausted. If the crime-scene 
investigators had left bad enough alone, they could have got-
ten away with it. Disputing the suppositions will help discover 
which crime took place. But the fact that these untruths con-
cern a planted rifle, and therefore the framing of Oswald, is 
indisputable. 

There is also the question of whether the rifle removed 
from the TSBD was tested for recent firing!' Every conceiv-
able test of this rifle was performed repeatedly, documented, 
and written about exhaustively over the last thirty years -
except the most obvious one. Why was a test for recent firing 
not the cornerstone of the Warren Report and the FBI reports? 
Why was it not at least mentioned by Gerald Posner. a man 
who claims to have re-indexed the Warren Commission's 
twenty-six volumes? If Mr. Posner wishes to prove his case 
with finality and portray the "conspiracy buffs" as frauds, why 
is he not shouting such test results from a rooftop and selling 
poster-sized reproductions of them? 

The answer, reportedly, is that there is no test for recent 
firing. But there is a test for whether a gun has been fired 
since it was last cleaned. On Tuesday, March 31, 1964. John 
J. McCloy fully expected such a test and asked for the result: 

Mr. McCloy. Was there metal fouling in the barrel? 
Mr. Frazier. I did not examine it for that!' 

A metal fouling test, then, is more accurately a test for 
recent non-firing. If such a test on the Carcano had been posi-
tive, i.e., showing metal fouling in the barrel, the test would 
be inconclusive regarding when it was last fired. The FBI could 
have just gone on assuming it was the murder weapon. But if 
such a test on the Carcano had produced a negative result, i.e., 
no metal fouling in the barrel, it would have meant the rifle 
had not been fired since it was last cleaned. Since it had not 
been cleaned between the time it was allegedly used to kill 
President Kennedy, and the time it came into the possession 
of the FBI, a negative metal-fouling test result would have 
proved the rifle was not the murder weapon. FBI firearms ex-
pert Robert Frazier evidently was not as curious as 
Commissioner McCloy about the condition of this particular 
barrel. 

Moreover, McCloy did not ask whether such a test had 
been performed. He asked for the result of a metal fouling 
test. In other words, he expected that one had been done rou- 

tinely. Upon learning that the test had not been done, McCloy 
asked Frazier: "Could you say roughly how many rounds you 
think had been fired since it left the factory, with the condi- 
tion of the barrel as you found it?" Frazier answered. "No, sir; 
I could not, because the number of rounds is not an indication 
of the condition of the barrel, since if a barrel is allowed to 
rust, one round will remove that rust and wear the barrel to the 
same extent as 10 or 15 or 50 rounds just fired through a clean 
barrel." McCloy and the other Commissioners and staff 
present, apparently getting the hint, abandoned that line of 
questioning without asking the simple question: What would 
it mean if this "murder weapon" had been found to have no 
"metal fouling in the barrel?" 

As a whole then, the rifle evidence tells the following 
story of confusion at the crime scene. Fritz and Day, and com- 
pany found the Mannlicher-Carcano on the sixth floor. It had 
not recently been fired but was properly set up to look as if it 
had (last round chambered, no clip). No other WWII military-
use rifle ejects a clip upon chambering the last round. 

The rifle's discoverers were not as familiar with its am-
munition feeding peculiarity as the rifle's planters. Their 
ignorance created a "situation" (according to Wade) based on 
"confusion over the rifle" (according to Ruby). The discover-
ers thought the clip normally ejected after the last round was 
fired (like the only other clip-fed WWII military-use rifle, the 
M-1 Garand). 

The way they dealt with their confusion — their first mis-
take — reveals the discoverers' roles as accomplices. Innocent, 
confused discoverers would have reported finding a rifle in 
an impossible post-firing condition, suspected it was planted, 
and tested it for recent firing. If it had been fired, they would 
have eventually realized their mistake and concluded the sus-
pect took the clip with him (a reasonable explanation because 
of fingerprints). If it had not been fired they would have con-
cluded it was planted despite their mistake. The actual 
discoverers did none of these things. 

When we look through the eyes of persons reacting to 
their M-I operation instincts, we have the reaction of 1) a per- 
son not knowing it was a plant contrasted with 2) a person 
knowing it was a plant. Assuming in both cases that there was 
no clip, based on the direct evidence and testimony about the 
crime scene, the first person's reaction would be that the post-
firing condition was impossible, and he would go from there. 
He would look for another weapon and check for recent fir-
ing. which is the normal, instinctive reaction in any shooting. 
The second person, knowing it was a plant, would say some- 
thing like, "Holy S 	, there has to be a clip in there!" 

Therefore, the amazing fact that the rifle was never tested 
for recent firing reveals the finders's knowledge that it had not 
been fired and was therefore planted. Since the last round was 
in the chamber, they thought the planters had made a mistake 
by not including the clip in the gun. They did two things to 
remedy this assumed error. They sought out an appropriate 
replacement clip and stalled for time until they were success-
ful. 
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They purposely misidentified the rifle - probably first 
as an Enfield and/or other non-clip-fed rifles - their second 
mistake - to avoid questions about clips. Then they realized 
there was a rifle closer in appearance to the Carcano. In an 
attempt to make the fake misidentification more plausible, they 
quickly changed it to the Carcano's superficial twin, but non-
clip-fed, Mauser. 

Their third mistake reveals the apparent method by which 
they chose the Mauser. Paul Mauser's first accepted box-maga-
zine rifle was the 7.65 mm. Belgium 1890 Mauser. By 1963. 
who would be thinking any rifle was a 7.65 mm. caliber? 

Gunsmith and former police officer Jim Westbrook said 
it was his recollection that the 7.65s were not all that plentiful 
even when they were the standard. He said he did not think 
they were much used outside of Germany and Italy. Westbrook 
speculated that such a number could have come from some-
one using the metric equivalent of the standard rifle caliber, 
.3006. He said it is like looking at a Chevy and knowing it is a 
six-cylinder because that was standard for that model year.' 
George Michael Evica, on the other hand, quoted a UPI story 
with a Dallas dateline. dated November 24th, 1963, which said. 
"...the 7.65 German-made Mauser was in big demand about 
two years ago.... The rifle takes a 32-caliber shell and is com-
parable to the American 30.06."" 

But regardless of whether 7.65s were common or rare by 
1963, if a gun enthusiast had Mausers in mind when looking 
at the 6.5 mm. (0.26 inch) barrel, or, in this case, a rebarrelled 
7.35, and thought of a .3006 inch (7.5 mm.) barrel, why would 
he not use the newer 7.62 mm. caliber? In 1898 Germany es-
tablished the 7.92 mm. standard which lasted until the NATO 
standard of 7.62 mm. went into effect after 1949. The metric 
equivalent to .3006 inch which should have been foremost in 
anyone's mind by 1963 would most reasonably have been the 
current standard of 7.62 millimeters; or at least the previous 
standard for a half-century of 7.92 millimeters. Even if some-
one was influenced by the numbers "6.5" stamped on the 
Mannlicher-Carcano barrel, the moment he said "7.65" the 
others should have thought he was nuts. Instead, "...the po-
lice reported.... a Mauser 7.65 rather than a 
Mannlicher-Carcano 

A surplus of 7.65 German-Mauser rifles sold recently in 
the Dallas firearms market would certainly explain how that 
caliber could be foremost in the mind of local conspirators in 
need of a quick distraction. Otherwise, the only way, appar-
ently. a gun user could have reported (even by mistake) the 
old 7.65 caliber would be by hurriedly looking Mausers up in 
a reference book." Mausers had been two different calibers 
for over a half-century - the lifetime of those at the crime 
scene. Gerald Posner. inasmuch as he does not mention it in 
his book Case Closed, also seems to be ignorant of the oddity 
of the 7.65 caliber designation. Committing to a cover story 
involving such an old and odd caliber was obviously a hor-
rendous mistake. 

To cover that mistake, among other reasons, Deputy Sher-
iff Roger Craig was apparently forced by the conspirators to 
lie about seeing a nonexistent "7.65 Mauser" tool mark 
stamped on the barrel, a classic misdirecting strategy. Although  

the story meant conspiracy, it led nowhere and, because it could 
not be proved, weakened Craig's credibility on other events 
he witnessed, further protecting the actual conspirators. (Craig 
will be explored in detail in part two of this study.) 

The bizarre twists in this story bring to mind a fable about 
an ancient land where confusion reigned. Living there was a 
devilish imp doing devilish things. To be effective he had to 
remain behind a fence so as not to be seen by the people. One 
day he threw a golden apple over the fence for the confused 
attention of the people. Attention thus diverted, he could con-
tinue his devilish ways on his side of the fence. He had an 
accomplice on the people's side of the fence to guide them in 
their confusion. He was the "confuser." In modern times, some 
devil threw a Mannlicher-Carcano over the fence for the world 
to ponder. The only flaw was that the "confuser," whose duty 
was to confuse the people, got confused himself over the 
Mannlicher feeding system. How else can it be explained that 
the weapon was proclaimed to the people to be a Mauser all 
that afternoon, after midnight and the next day? How else? 
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